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Four miles long and half a mile wide, Swan Island is smack dab off Richmond's town landing in
the Kennebec River.  The island used to be called by the Abenaki Indians 'Swango' or 'Island of
the Eagles'.  It separated from the town of Dresden in 1847 and became incorporated as the
town of Perkins.  By 1860, 95 residents lived on the island.  Farming, fishing, lumbering,
shipbuilding and ice cutting provided the livelihood for the community.  In the 1930's no one was
living on the island.

  

No more than 200 yards from Richmond, the island beckons the kayaker and canoeist to paddle
over.  The Steve Powell Wildlife Management area, owned and managed by Maine Department
of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (IFW) has two islands, a mainland point and several hundred
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acres of adjoining freshwater tidal flats.  It is at the top of Merrymeeting Bay, one of the largest
estuaries on the eastern seaboard.  If IFW is called, it will run a ferry from Richmond Landing to
the island at nine or eleven a.m., one or three p.m.  (547-5422)Registration is needed.  From
early May to late October, visitors can access the island daily from sunrise to sunset, but the
ferry stops running on Labor Day.  There is an $8 fee to visit the island; deposit it in the
collection box and self-register.  If one opts to camp in the campground, $14 per person is the
charge.  Again, reservations are required.

  

There is a lot of history on the island.  The first recorded visit of European-American explorers
came in 1607 when members of the Popham Colony stopped at the island.  During the next 150
years, a few settlers established homesteads.  But the French and Indian Wars in the 1750s
affected permanent settlement of the island.

      

Long-abandoned houses still stand.  Dr. Sylvester Gardiner built the 'salt box' house in 1763 for
his newly married daughter, Rebecca, and her husband, Philip Dumaresq.  The house sits next
to the campground. It is known as the first summer vacation home in Maine.  Major Samuel
Tubbs, a Revolutionary war veteran, built the Tubbs-Reed house in the early 1800's.  He later
sold the house to the Reed family.  The Federal house sits happily on top of a hill near the ferry
landing.  There are four other houses scattered around the island.  An Americorps volunteer
lives in one of the houses for the season.
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Curtis Cemetery was the only privately owned land on the island until 1988 when it was willed tothe department.  Ben Curtis in the mid-1800's suggested putting all the graves in one spot, noton individual homesteads.  Descendants of families who once lived on Swan Island retain burialrights in the cemetery.  A white fence encloses the tombstones, and an Eagle Scout made adiagram of the headstones in the late 1980's.  These headstones date from 1802-1968.  Other structures on the island are the wildlife viewing tower, ten Adirondack shelters forcamping, water and flush toilet facilities and a boathouse.  The tower, dedicated to thephotographer Bill Silliker Jr., was moved to the island in 2005 from Frye Mountain in Montville. The shelters, built in 1966, can accommodate six people in each one.  Usually campers bringtheir own tents to avoid the bugs.  Restroom facilities are nearby, and there is a water pump forthe visitors.  The boathouse near the river serves as an educational classroom for spring and fall elementarystudents who spend the day on the island.  An interpreter shares information on wildlife, birdsand the landscape with the youth.  White-tailed deer, beaver, turkeys, bald eagles (there arethree nests on the island), wood duck, cormorants and other shore birds are some of the wildlifethere.  Bobcats and coyotes swim from the mainland.  It's also possible to swim in theKennebec River by the boathouse although there is no beach.  

Kendall Marden, a biologist with IFW, is the staff member.  He and the Americorps volunteermaintain the Perkins Highway, the four-mile dirt road that weaves to the southern end of theisland, mow fields, and keep the extensive trails open to the public. Hybrid bicycles can wendtheir way down the 'highway', and there are a few at the ferry landing to use. If they have time,they pull out invasive species.  “We are the only IWF management property that allowscamping.  Our main job is to oversee wildlife and encourage nesting of birds.  However, 1,800visitors come to the island each year, and more than 700 camp out for at least a night.  Thedepartment raises $12,000 each year from the visitors.”  Keith Burgeson is the Americorps volunteer.  “I have 1,700 acres to myself, and the island isvery peaceful.”  He gives guided tours if they have been requested in the one truck.  Sincewildlife management is the driving force behind maintaining the island, Burgeson is mindful ofthe animals.  He also checks up on the campers and other visitors.  Several ponds dot the island, but there are no fish in them.  A deer exclusion area, containedbehind a fence, shows the impact of not allowing deer to eat everywhere.  Hardwoods andground cover have taken hold under the hemlocks and pines.  Up to 70 deer remain on theisland year-round, but they can swim to the mainland for more food and a sheltered deerreserve.  To snatch a bit of history and immerse oneself in the quiet of a sheltered island are appealing. Paddle to Swan Island this fall to check things out.  And make a promise to camp there nextsummer. No pets, however, are allowed.  You might even see fledgling eaglets in one of thethree nests in the spring.
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